# MPH Student Handbook Part 2 Internships





Effective June 1, 2020

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
INTERNSHIP	3
PLANNING FOR THE INTERNSHIP	3
GOALS FOR THE INTERNSHIP	4
INTERNSHIP ELIGIBILITY	4
ACQUIRING AN INTERNSHIP	4
INTERNSHIP TIMELINE	5
Student Responsibilities	
Internship Supervisor Responsibilities	
Internship Advisor Responsibilities	7
EXAMPLES OF POSSIBLE INTERNSHIP ACTIVITIES	8
DUAL MAJORS	9
APPENDIX A – NON-ACADEMIC EXPECTATIONS OF THE INTERNSHIP	
APPENDIX B – STUDENT INTERNSHIP CONTRACT	
APPENDIX C – EVALUATION OF INTERNSHIP BY STUDENT	
APPENDIX D – EVALUATION OF MPH STUDENT BY AGENCY	
APPENDIX E – EVALUATION OF MPH STUDENT BY AGENCY	

#### **INTERNSHIP**

The internship is an important experience that contributes to the student's goals for professional growth and should match the student's interests. The student's goals and interests should be clearly understood by both the student and the student's Internship Advisor (IA).

The internship consists of hands-on experience obtained at a single location or multiple locations as approved by the student's IA. The IA is generally the student's Major Advisor (MA), but this is not required. The internship is required for all MPH students, except for those students who have a minimum of one year of work experience in their field of study. Students who have a minimum of one year of work experience may apply for a waiver to the internship and they will be required to complete a scholarly project.

The internship meets the requirements of the Applied Practice Experience (APE), as specified by the Council on Education in Public Health (CEPH). CEPH is the accrediting body of the University of Toledo MPH Program.

The internship will allow each student to demonstrate attainment of at least five competencies, of which at least three must be Foundational Competencies and the other two must be Major Competencies. The internship may address more than five competencies, if appropriate. A <u>minimum</u> of 300 hours is required for each MPH student.

Each student is required to prepare a portfolio as part of their internship. The portfolio requires a minimum of two products that demonstrate competency attainment. In addition, the portfolio must contain the 10-minute PowerPoint that each student prepares and presents to peers and advisors at the end of the semester they complete their internship along with the student's log and a current resume. The portfolio should be submitted to the student's IA no later than the day of internship presentations. Internship presentations occur on the last Friday of classes (the Friday before finals week) each semester.

#### Planning for the Internship

Effective practices must be followed to ensure a sound educational experience for every student. The following principles are starting points for planning an internship.

- 1. Students have the primary responsibility for locating and securing an acceptable internship site or sites.
  - a. Students are REQUIRED to meet with their Internship Advisor (IA) prior to beginning the search for an internship location.
- 2. Internships are conducted under the professional guidance and supervision of an Internship Supervisor (IS).
  - a. The IS is responsible for making learning experiences from work situations.
  - b. The student is REQUIRED to obtain the resume or CV of the proposed IS and email it to <a href="mailto:publichealth@utoledo.edu">publichealth@utoledo.edu</a>.
    - i. CEPH accreditation requires that the MPH program demonstrate that the Internship Supervisors are qualified.
- 3. Internships should offer students opportunities for responsible participation in a wide variety of tasks and relationships common to the activities of public health professionals in their field of study.

- a. The experiences offered to students should meet real needs of the sponsoring agency.
- b. As much as possible, all students should be given opportunities to function as staff members while they are completing their internship.
- 4. Students are expected to conduct themselves in a professional manner, conforming to all agency policies regarding conduct, dress, confidentiality, etc.
  - a. Refer to the Non-Academic Expectations of the Internship in Appendix A.

#### Goals for the Internship

- 1. Enhance the student's understanding of the structure and functions of the sponsoring agency.
- 2. Relate the activities of public health professionals to the goals of the sponsoring agency.
- 3. Recognize the value of linkages, interdependence, and intercommunications between numerous health agencies, providers, and organizations.
- 4. Integrate classroom learning with real-world field experience.
- 5. Improve the student's professional skills.
- 6. Contribute meaningfully to the sponsoring agency.
- 7. Meet public health professionals and form business relationships with these professionals.
- 8. Prepare the student for a public health career.

#### Internship Eligibility

Prior to registering for the internship, all students MUST:

- 1. Complete a minimum of 24 credit hours of MPH courses, including all core courses as listed on the Plan of Study.
  - a. It is highly recommended that students have also completed all major courses prior to beginning or concurrent with the internship.
- 2. Complete the online Internship Seminar through the University of Toledo Safety Test Bank.
  - a. Students CANNOT register for an internship without completing the training.
- 3. Meet with an IA no later than the beginning of the semester PRIOR to the start of the proposed internship.
- 4. Meet with prospective Internship Supervisors to obtain an internship position.
  - a. Complete the Internship Contract with the IA and IS within the first 20 hours of the internship.
- 5. Receive approval from the IA to register for internship hours.
  - a. The IA is REQUIRED to enter an override into the online registration system allowing the student to register for internship hours.

#### Acquiring an Internship

Arranging for an internship is very similar to finding employment. Networking is a key component of this task. Students should develop a list of potentially desirable sites that provide experiences that are consistent with their personal goals and objectives. The IA can provide a

list of sites that have previously hosted interns. Internships may be completed in any location. These locations can be in Ohio, anywhere in the US, or anywhere around the world.

Students MUST discuss potential internship sites with their IA. The IA can provide contact information for representatives at the selected sites or the IA can contact the agency if there is no designated representative to arrange an introduction. Students have the responsibility to contact the designated representative and initiate a discussion concerning an internship.

After an agency has accepted a student for an internship, the student needs to work with the IS to complete the Student Internship Contract. The Student Internship Contract will include a plan of activities the student will complete during the internship as well as the expected products the student will produce during the internship. The listed activities and products must be linked to the Foundational and Major Competencies. The student, IS, and IA must all sign the Student Internship Contract, which signifies they all agree on the plan of activities and expected products.

#### Internship Timeline

Students should begin preparing for the internship the semester before they plan to begin the internship. Securing an internship and completing the Student Internship Contract take time. The contract should be completed within 20 hours from the start of the internship.

Registration for the internship should be done concurrently with the student's other courses. A total of 3 credit hours is required for the internship. Students may register for 1 to 3 credit hours at a time since the internship can be completed in one semester or over three semesters. The default credit hours in the registration system for the internship is 1. Therefore, students *MUST MANUALLY SELECT THE CORRECT NUMBER OF CREDIT HOURS*. Students cannot graduate without 3 credit hours of internship being completed.

#### Student Responsibilities

- 1. Students are expected to comply with all applicable rules, policies, and procedures of the agency hosting the internship. If the agency has special requirements, students have the responsibility to comply with these requirements.
- 2. All students are expected to conduct themselves in a professional manner that is a credit to the student, the agency, and the university. This includes appropriate professional appearance and behavior.
  - a. Refer to the Non-Academic Expectations of the Internship in Appendix A.
- 3. Students have the primary responsibility for obtaining their internship. Typical steps for obtaining an internship include:
  - a. Become familiar with the selected agency, including any pertinent rules and regulations, mission, and vision of the agency.
  - b. Develop a list of possible projects along with goals and expectations to discuss with the selected agency.
    - i. It is recommended that students share and discuss this list with their IA before meeting with the agency.
  - c. Provide a current professional resume and any other information requested to the selected agency.

- 4. Students are required to complete all the activities listed in the Student Internship Contract (Appendix B).
  - a. Failure to complete all the activities will result in a U (unsatisfactory) grade, which will require the entire internship to be repeated at another site.
- 5. Students are required to maintain all records necessary for the activities detailed in the Student Internship Contract.
  - a. A daily log of internship activities must be emailed to their IA every 60 hours of the internship.
- 6. Students are required to complete a **minimum of 300 hours** at the selected agency.
  - a. The IS is required to sign off that the minimum number of hours have been completed by the student.
- 7. Students are required to create an electronic portfolio with a minimum of two products from their internship activities.
  - a. The portfolio must be submitted to their IA no later than the day of student presentations.
  - b. The products will vary be internship. Examples of possible products include:
    - i. Education materials such as flyers, presentations, etc.
    - ii. Grant applications or sections of grant applications
    - iii. Policies, programs, or interventions
    - iv. Chemical inventories, hazard assessments, etc.
- 8. Students are required to prepare a 10-minute PowerPoint presentation.
  - a. The specific requirements for the presentation can be found under the Current Student tab of the MPH website (<u>http://www.utoledo.edu/hhs/master-of-public-health/current-students/</u>) and are summarized below.
    - i. Students are held to the 10-minute time limit.
    - ii. Students are required to dress professionally.
    - iii. The presentation needs to include the following content:
      - 1. An introduction of self and major
      - 2. Internship location and how it was obtained
      - 3. Internship supervisor and their title and credentials
      - 4. Internship activities and projects
      - 5. The foundational and major competencies met with the activities and projects
      - 6. The overall objectives of the internship
    - iv. Students are required to send their presentation to <u>publichealth@utoledo.edu</u> no later than 5:00 pm on the presentation day.
  - b. Presentations occur during the 14<sup>th</sup> week of the semester on Friday, beginning at 8:00 am (the Friday before finals week).
    - i. Students presenting are required to stay for all the presentations, unless they are working.
    - ii. Students with a job must notify their advisor and the program if they cannot stay for all the presentations.
  - c. Students will not receive a grade for their internship until after the presentation.

- 9. Students are required to complete an Evaluation of the Internship by Student (Appendix C) and must submit it to the IA before the end of the semester.
- 10. Students should request a letter of reference, if appropriate, from their IS.
- 11. Students MUST notify their IA whenever any difficulties arise during the internship.
- 12. Students are required to email an update to their IA once every week.

#### Internship Supervisor Responsibilities

- 1. The agency shall provide an employee who is professionally competent in the student's field of study to supervise the internship and ensure that the internship contributes to the individual's professional growth.
- 2. The IS shall work with the student to develop a plan of activities and expected products and complete the Student Internship Contract.
  - a. All activities and products should be designed to enhance a student's professional development and at the same time benefit the agency.
- 3. The IS needs to inform and ensure understanding by the student of all pertinent policies, rules, and regulations of the agency prior to or at the beginning of the internship.
- 4. The IS needs to provide each student an orientation to the agency during the first week of the internship.
- 5. The IS needs to allow the student to function as an integral member of the agency, as much as possible.
- 6. The IS should meet with the student weekly to discuss the student's progress, answer questions, and resolve problems encountered.
- 7. The IS needs to provide assistance to the student for completion of all activities and the expected products delineated in the Student Internship Contract.
- 8. The IS needs to complete both parts of the Evaluation of MPH Student by Agency (see Appendix D).
  - a. Part A needs to be discussed with the student and then signed by both the student and the IS.
    - i. Part A needs to be submitted to the IA by the end of the semester.
  - b. Part B is sent directly to the IA by the IS and also needs to be submitted by the end of the semester.
- 9. The IS needs to notify the IA immediately whenever difficulties arise during the internship.
- 10. The IS should provide additional information, as needed, to the IA to share with other potential interns.

#### Internship Advisor Responsibilities

- 1. The IA must follow the student's progress during their internship.
  - a. The IA has the option of visiting each site during a student's internship to review the student's progress.
  - b. The IA must review the student's daily activity log and weekly email update.
- 2. The IA assigns the final grade for the internship after the completion of the internship and the submission of all required documents.

- a. The IA assigns a grade of either S (satisfactory) or U (unsatisfactory).
  - i. Students who do not complete all activities listed in the Student Internship Contract will receive a grade of U.
  - ii. Students who do not present will receive a grade of U.
  - iii. Students who do not submit all required documents and the electronic portfolio with receive a grade of U.
- 3. The IA will resolve any major difficulties that are brought to their attention by meeting with representatives of the sponsoring agency, as needed.
  - a. If the problem cannot be resolved by the IA, the Program Director will be requested to resolve the issue.
  - b. If the Program Director cannot resolve the issue, the Chair of the School of Population Health will be requested to resolve the issue.
  - c. If the Chair cannot resolve the issue, the Dean will be asked to review the problem. The decision of the Dean will be final.
- 4. The IA can assist students in securing internships, usually by referral to cooperating agencies.
- 5. The IA will cooperate with the selected agency to provide pertinent material related to the student that may be requested by the agency.

#### Examples of Possible Internship Activities

Each internship is unique, as are the goals and objectives of each students. However, there are activities that are frequently found in internships. The list below provides some examples.

- 1. Apply a technical skill with appropriate supervision.
- 2. Assist in data collection, entry, analysis, and interpretation.
- 3. Assist in epidemiologic investigations and/or research conducted by the agency.
- 4. Assist in preparation of agency reports, brochures, or documents.
- 5. Assist in study design and implementation.
- 6. Assist with the planning, implementation, and/or evaluation of an intervention.
- 7. Attend administrative and other staff meetings.
- 8. Attend professional meetings related to the mission of the agency.
- 9. Complete analysis of a need or problem identified by the agency.
- 10. Develop an abstract from the internship experience and submit for presentation at a state or national conference.
- 11. Develop, coordinate, and administer a program activity.
- 12. Identify and diagnose a program need or problem as determined by the agency.
- 13. Survey/review relevant literature related to project activities.
- 14. Work with other members of the agency's professional staff.
- 15. Write press releases, reports, or other technical documents.

#### Evaluation of the Internship

To receive a satisfactory grade for the internship, students must complete all the following:

1. Spend at least 300 hours working at the selected agency for the internship.

- a. The Evaluation of MPH Student by Agency from certifies that the student has met the minimum hour requirement.
- 2. Complete the activities detailed in the Student Internship Contract.
  - a. A minimum of two products of these activities must be included in the electronic portfolio the student submits to the IA.
- 3. Evaluate the internship by completing the Evaluation of Internship by Student form.
- 4. Receive a favorable evaluation from their IS.
  - a. The student must obtain a rating of 3 or greater (on a 5 point scale) for at least 75% of the categories included in the Evaluation of Internship by Agency form.
- 5. Complete an oral PowerPoint presentation during the Internship Presentation session on Friday of the 14<sup>th</sup> week of the semester the student completes the internship.

#### Dual Majors

MPH students with a dual major are required to obtain hands-on experience in both majors. This can be accomplished by either completing two separate internships (one would count as an elective for one of the majors) or by completing a combined internship. Students with dual majors who complete separate internships for each major must follow the requirements in this handbook for both internships.

Students with dual majors who want to complete a combined internship will be required to obtain approval from an Internship Advisor in each major. The minimum number of hours will be greater than 300. The student will be required to meet a minimum of five competencies (three Foundational and two Major) for each major. Students may meet the same three Foundational Competencies for both majors but must demonstrate compliance separately for each major. The student's two IAs must both approve that the student has met a minimum of five competencies for each of their majors.

## **APPENDIX A – NON-ACADEMIC EXPECTATIONS OF THE INTERNSHIP**

When you are participating in your internship, you represent UT, the MPH program, your advisor, your parents and family, and the people who support you. The internship is an opportunity for you to show that you are ready for the professional position that comes as a result of your advanced education. Your Internship Supervisor (IS) will have certain expectations and standards that you are expected to meet. You will be evaluated on these "real world" professional expectations as much as you will be on your knowledge and accomplishments. These real world, non-academic expectations are summarized below.

- 1. Appearance
  - a. Wear professional attire appropriate to the position.
    - i. If you are not sure what you should wear, ask your IS.
    - ii. When you begin your internship, you become a member of the staff at the agency and are no longer in a more casual classroom.
  - b. Adopt personal grooming that meets the same standards as the agency.
    - i. If the agency does not allow visible tattoos, cover yours up.
    - ii. If the agency does not allow visible piercings, remove yours.
- 2. Punctuality
  - a. Arrive before the set start time.
    - i. Five minutes after the set start time is five minutes late.
  - b. Alert your IS in advance if you must miss time at the internship site for a planned event.
    - i. In advance does NOT mean the day of; it means days in advance.
    - ii. It is not acceptable to arrive at the site and announce that you must leave that same day for a dentist's appointment.
      - 1. Your IS knows that such appointments are scheduled well in advance.
  - c. Contact your IS as soon as possible if you are ill and unable to work.
    - i. Do not wait until the day has started and you set start time has passed.
  - d. Contact your IS as soon as possible if you are going to be late.
    - i. Oversleeping or getting lost are NOT good excuses for being late.
- 3. Dependability
  - a. Do what you say you are going to do.
    - i. Follow through on agreements and promises.
  - b. Meet deadlines.
- 4. Professionalism
  - a. Work as a member of the team.
  - b. Be sociable; greet other employees and make eye contact.
  - c. Be attentive and listen when others speak.
    - i. Using personal electronics in meetings and while in the presence of other employees, clients, or customers is rude, inconsiderate, and totally unprofessional.

## **APPENDIX B – STUDENT INTERNSHIP CONTRACT**

Student Name:	
Contact Phone:	
Contact Email:	
MPH Major:	
Internship Advisor:	
This Internship Contract	ill confirm the terms and conditions of your internship with
	(internship site) at
	(address)

I undertake the following obligations with respect to the above-named internship site:

- 1. To observe all applicable rules, regulations, instructions, procedures, and directions of the internship site.
- 2. To refrain from any conduct that would adversely reflect on the internship site or on the MPH program and will not engage in any activity which is incompatible with the aims and objectives of the internship site.
- 3. To keep confidential any and all unpublished information made known to me by the internship site that I know or ought to have known has not been made public, and except with explicit authorization of the internship site, not to publish any reports or papers based on the information obtained during the internship, both during and after completion of the internship.
- 4. To provide my Internship Supervisor and my Internship Advisor with a copy of all materials prepared during my internship. The copy provided to my Internship Advisor will be a part of the electronic portfolio.
- 5. To provide immediate written notice to my Internship Advisor and Internship Supervisor in case of illness or other circumstances that may prevent me from completing the internship.
- 6. To provide my Internship Advisor with electronic copies of my daily log at every 60 hours of my internship for all 300+ hours of the internship.
- 7. To provide my Internship Advisor with an email update once every week as well as when I have questions or concerns.

Failure to complete these obligations, and all others described in the MPH Student Handbook, Part 2, will result in an unsatisfactory grade (U) and the requirement to perform another internship at another site.

Internship Schedule

Start Date: \_\_\_\_\_

End Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### Internship Supervisor Information

Name:	 
Credentials:	 
Title:	 
Contact Phone:	 
Contact Email:	

Internship Activities with Expected Timeline and Final Product	Competencies Addressed			
	Foundational	Major		
1.				
2.				
3.				
4.				
5.				
6.				

Additional Comments:

<u>Signatures</u>:

Student

Internship Supervisor

Internship Advisor

Date

Date

Date

## **APPENDIX C – EVALUATION OF INTERNSHIP BY STUDENT**

Complete this form after the conclusion of the internship and submit it to your IA be the end of the semester. The internship grade cannot be submitted until this form has been returned to your IA.

Date:						
Studer	nt Name:					
Agency:						
Intern	ship Supervisor:					
Start/E	End Dates:					
Total F	lours:					
1.	Overall, how would ye	ou rate your internshi	p exper	ience?		
	Poor	Fair Good		Excellent		
2.	Please comment on y	our internship experie	ence.			
3.	In your opinion, what	are your Internship Si	upervis	or's strengths and weaknesses?		
4.	4. In your opinion, what are your internship site's strengths and weaknesses?					
5.	5. What suggestions would you offer to improve the internship experience?					
6.	6. Would you recommend this agency to another student?					
	Yes	No				
7.	Would you recommer	nd this Internship Supe	ervisor	to another student?		
	Yes	No				
8.	Please explain your ar	swers to questions 6	and 7.			

## **APPENDIX D – EVALUATION OF MPH STUDENT BY AGENCY**

Part A

Date:	 
Student Name:	 
Agency:	 
Internship Supervisor:	 

#### Performance Evaluation:

Please use the following scale to rate the student's performance during their internship.

- 5 <u>Outstanding</u> performance consistently exceeded normally expected levels. Showed a high degree of proficiency in all aspects of performance. This is equivalent to a grade of A+ in an academic course.
- 4 <u>Very Effective</u> performance frequently exceeded normally expected levels. Showed a high degree of proficiency in many, but not all, aspects of performance. This is equivalent to a grade of A in an academic course.
- 3 <u>Effective</u> performance was consistently at normally expected levels. No major areas of necessary improvement can be cited. This is equivalent to a grade of B in an academic course.
- 2 <u>Improvement Possible</u> performance was inconsistent; met minimum standards only periodically in some, but not all, areas of responsibility. This equivalent to a grade of C in an academic course.
- 1 <u>Improvement Required</u> performance was consistently below an acceptable level. Immediate improvement is required. This is equivalent to a grade of D or F in an academic course.

Skills		Rating					
		2	3	4	5	NO <sup>*</sup>	
Intern managed time effectively							
Intern had appropriate interpersonal skills							
Intern accepted feedback, suggestions, and criticism							
Intern showed initiative							
Intern was reliable							
Intern had knowledge of public health principles							
Intern had the ability to apply skill in practice							
Intern behaved in a professional manner							

\*Not observed

Please provide explanatory comments for the ratings provided.

<u>Signatures</u>:

Student

Date

Internship Supervisor

Date

## APPENDIX E – EVALUATION OF MPH STUDENT BY AGENCY

Part B

Date:					
Stude	nt Name:				
Agenc	y:				
Intern	ship Supervisor:				
Start/I	End Date:				
Total I	Hours:				
1.	Overall, how would ye	ou rate this stu	dent?		
	Poor	Fair	Good	Excellent	
2.	Please comment on t	heir internship	experience.		
3.	In your opinion, what	are this studer	nt's strengths a	and weaknesses?	
4.	Would you hire this s	tudent if you h	ad a position a	available?	
	Yes	No			
5.	5. Would you accept another MPH internship student from UT?				
	Yes	No			
6.	Please explain your a	nswers to ques	tions 4 and 5.		
<u>Siqnat</u>	<u>ure</u> :				

Internship Supervisor